
Special Meeting of the Planning and Zoning Commission of the Town of Ocean Ridge 
held on Monday, January 12, 2009 in the Town Hall Meeting Chambers.  
 
The meeting was called to order at 8:00 AM by Chair Jim Bonfiglio and roll call was 
answered by the following: 
 
  Mark Marsh    Gerald Goray 
  Ward Northrup   Mauro Walker    

Dr. Richard Bajakian   Penny Kosinski 
      Chair Jim Bonfiglio 
 
III. APPROVAL OF SEPTEMBER 15, 2008 MINUTES  
 
Dr. Bajakian moved to adopt the September 15, 2008 minutes, seconded by Mr. Marsh. 

 
Motion carried – yea (7). 
 
IV. DISCUSS CURRENT OCEAN RIDGE CODE RELATED TO THE ELECTION 

FORMAT AND EVALUATE POSSIBLE CHANGES  
 
Chairman Bonfiglio advised the members that the Town Commission appointed the P & 
Z to review the Charter as it relates to the election format for both the Mayor and 
Commissioners.  
 
Town Manager Schenck stated that the current code provides that the Commissioners are 
elected at large and the top vote getters are elected and then the Mayor is appointed by 
the Commissioners each year.  He stated that it was questioned whether this format 
should continue or possibly divide the Town into districts, run for a specific seat, and 
actually have the Mayor elected by the residents.  He added that the members were 
provided with an analysis on how other communities conducted their elections.  He stated 
that in Pahokee, where he resides, the candidates run for a specific seat and not districts.  
He commented that an election for Mayor and also district seating can possibly cause 
problems for smaller communities. 
 
Chairman Bonfiglio questioned if the total cost would be less than $10,000 if the Charter 
were changed to which he was advised that it should be.  
 
Mr. Goray questioned the compelling reason to make any changes.  Town Clerk Hancsak 
stated that the few questions were raised at a Commission meeting and they in turn 
appointed the entire P & Z Commission to review it.  
 
Comm Brown stated that while he is currently a Commissioner he is speaking also as a 
citizen and that he originally brought up this item.  He stated that while campaigning he 
spoke with a lot of people on how the Town functions and how it could possibly be 
improved.  He stated that the current Mayoral position is ceremonial, with no specific 
authority over the other Commissioners with the exception of certain State required 



PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION MEETING HELD JAN. 12, 2009 

 2

functions, such as executing documents, and he questioned whether possibly a strong 
Mayor elected at large would be more efficient and better for the Town.  He added that 
districting came up because residents on the south end wanted to be sure that their 
interests were being represented.       
 
Atty Spillias clarified that electing a Mayor alone does not give him/her additional power 
and that appropriate next steps in changing the Charter would have to be accomplished.  
He stated that some municipalities have a strong Mayor with a Chief Administrative 
Officer that reports directly to him/her.  Chairman Bonfiglio stated that additional salary 
costs would be incurred if the position were full time.   
 
John Wooten, 5907 N Ocean Blvd., commented that he was at the meeting when the 
election was discussed and he felt that a Commission/Manager form of government 
provides the necessary checks and balances.  He added that a Mayoral form of 
government may not serve the community as well.  He also stated that he felt if residents 
felt strongly about a subject they have various methods to bring up the concern and he 
has not heard of any complaints other than at that meeting when residents spoke against 
any changes.  He felt having a Mayor with more power could be a disaster for the Town 
and districts were absurd. 
 
Comm Allison commented that she was serving her 2nd term as Commissioner and she 
has voted on five occasions for the Mayor and felt the system works.  She stated that the 
Commissioners appoint a Mayor that they feel has the most expertise but she is happy 
that it is being examined.  She also stated that she felt the Commission represents all the 
residents and districting can pit one against another.   She concluded by stating that the 
Commission/Manager works best because managers are specifically trained for their 
position and therefore she felt the process should be kept the way it is.   Chairman 
Bonfiglio commented that a prior manager was released when the Commission was 
unhappy and this process of removal would be easier to accomplish than with an elected 
strong Mayor.  Comm Allison also stated that while a lot a residents do not come to the 
meetings she too speaks with many residents and she has not received any complaints on 
the election process. 
 
Mark Hanna, a resident of 5 Sailfish Lane, who also disclosed that he was a law partner 
with Mayor Kaleel, stated that a problem with an election with the top 2 vote getters is 
that a possible Commissioner could be voted out when that may not be the intent of the 
voters, whereas running for a specific seat would eliminate that issue.  He stated that the 
community is too small for districts and this may not achieve the Town’s goals.  
Regarding a strong Mayor he felt that the Mayor should be elected by the residents and 
involved in policy issues and run the executive day to day functions while the 
Commission should be involved with the legislative end.   He added that the Mayor 
should have no voting power and an extra Commissioner added to sit on the Commission. 
 
Zoanne Hennigan, 91 Island Drive So., stated that she wanted to see an analytical 
approach as to how they come to a recommendation.  She was in favor of the approach 
that Mr. Wooten and Comm Allison represented.  She cited the cost factor of a full time 



PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION MEETING HELD JAN. 12, 2009 

 3

Mayor adding that a full time Manager was needed.  She concluded by stating that the 
Commission is proactive now and does a good job. 
 
Nancy Hogan, 37 Hibiscus Way, stated that the smaller municipalities should consider 
possibly consolidating with each other forming one government.  She added that the 
Town does not need to add people or another layer of administration.  She stated that if 
the residents do not care for a particular Commissioner then they can un-elect them.  She 
commented that she felt there should be term limits.  Chairman Bonfiglio stated that term 
limits may cause the Town to lose a good experienced Commissioner.  Mrs. Hogan also 
stated that the Mayor is ceremonial but sometimes they may get too involved and 
therefore the position should be rotated.  Chairman Bonfiglio commented that as he 
understood it the Commission may want the same Mayor because of the issues at the 
time.   Mrs. Hogan concluded by asking Mr. Hanna to disclose in what capacity he was 
present and speaking at this meeting.  Mr. Hanna stated that while he is a law partner 
with the Mayor, he is also the Chairman of the Board of Adjustment, however he spoke 
on this subject as a citizen of the Town.  
 
Atty Spillias stated that the analysis was completed in order to demonstrate the different 
approaches for municipalities and that there is no one structure for either the large or 
smaller ones.  He stressed that the recommendation should be made for Ocean Ridge’s 
needs.  
 
After a brief discussion the consensus of the Commission was that the current system 
worked for this municipality and unless there was a good reason to change it then it 
should remain the same.  Mr. Walker added that a strong Mayor may not achieve the 
desired competency level, electing a Mayor at large may not work, and the Town was too 
small for districting and he did not see an advantage to running by seat.   
 
Mr. Goray moved to recommend to the Town Commission, after consideration of the 
pros/cons/alternatives, that the current Election Process remain the same.  Mr. Northrup 
seconded the motion.  
 
Motion carried – Yea (7).   
 
V. DISCUSS ZONING CODE AS IT RELATES TO THE FLAT ROOF AREA, 

75% SECOND FLOOR RULE, FLOOR AREA RATIO AND ALSO THE 
POSSIBILITY OF “GOING GREEN” INCENTIVES OR SCHEDULING 
FUTURE MEETING FOR SAME  

 
Town Manager Schenck summarized his memorandum by stating that the Commission 
directed the P & Z Commission to review several areas of the zoning code to see if any 
changes were warranted.  The issues included the flat roof area, second floor rule, and the 
floor area ratio as it relates to a “going green” incentive.  He stated that he included 
information from a property owner in Town related to a certain type of walls.  
 



PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION MEETING HELD JAN. 12, 2009 

 4

Town Clerk Hancsak explained the history of the flat roof by stating that the code was 
changed in 2003 restricting single family roofs to a minimum 4:12 pitch with a small 
percentage for porches or balconies, however, there is no restriction on architectural 
features that still may give the appearance of a flat roof. 
 
Mark Hanna, 5 Sailfish Lane, and also Chairman of the Board of Adjustment, commented 
that several property owners have sought variances related to flat roof area that have been 
denied and one in particular found a loophole by placing a parapet around the top it still 
gives the appearance of a flat roof.  He stated he believed that was not the intent of the 
code when it was written. He also stated that he believed that the intent of the 75% 
second floor rule was to eliminate the look of a box like structure.  Mr. Hanna also 
mentioned several other variance requests that may need reviewed.   
 
Mr. Northrup mentioned that the code was examined and it was changed to a cubic type 
volumn suggested by Digby Bridges and was subsequently changed and changing it was 
not a minor thing.  Mr. Marsh stated that the intent was to create less of an encroachment 
on a neighbor and the 75% seems to work but agreed that the way it is written it can still 
look like a box and suggested looking at cubic feet again.  He added that he felt single 
story heights and tie beams should be re-reviewed.  Clerk Hancsak explained that the 
code originally provided for a 75% tiered second story, however it was changed to 
provide for anywhere on the second floor after many complaints were received on the 
difficulty presented to engineers and architects and also the cost factor. 
 
Chairman Bonfiglio suggested scheduling a workshop to discuss these agenda items 
along with a list of issues that have been brought to the Board of Adjustment.  He 
requested Mr. Hanna comprise a list of the recent variance requests.  
 
Brandon Caldwell, 66 Spanish River Drive, stated that he wrote a letter concerning how 
square footage was calculated because he would like to use a different type of 15” wall 
system, however the FAR is measured from the exterior wall which brings him over the 
maximum allowed.  He added that he still meets the other zoning requirements and 
suggested changing the code so that the FAR is measured from the interior walls.  Mr. 
Marsh stated that zoning was a point of reference and he felt this would open a Pandora’s 
Box, adding that all other municipalities use the exterior walls for measurements.  He 
stated the home could be designed using 12-13” walls to meet the zoning parameters or 
seek a variance, however he felt the hardship was self induced.  Mr. Caldwell commented 
that looking at innovative methods and technology while still maintaining the other 
parameters should be reviewed.  Mr. Marsh stated that he felt all the zoning codes were 
inter-related.   
 
Comm Brown stated that he brought these items up to the Commission because there are 
currently no incentives to attract green initiatives such as a solar concept.  He mentioned 
a website for the Solar Energy Center and cited some of their information which relays 
information related to energy savings and the Town should investigate a rebate process 
for those that participate.  
 



PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION MEETING HELD JAN. 12, 2009 

 5

Mark Hanna, 5 Sailfish Lane, agreed that there are no restrictions on green technology 
but commented that he felt wind turbines should not be permitted.  Comm Brown agreed. 
 
Atty Spillias advised that the Town’s zoning code attempts to control some of the 
aesthetics through the codes.  He added that once the members establish what the intent 
is, possibly with the assistance of several architects, he can then draft language for an 
ordinance.   Mr. Marsh stated that a consultant may be necessary after the P & Z discuss 
potential changes.  Clerk Hancsak reminded the Commission that Urban Design Studios 
was hired for the last major zoning amendments.  
 
The consensus was to schedule a meeting within the next 45 days on a Monday morning 
at 8 AM with as many members as possible.  Clerk Hancsak stated that she would contact 
the members to schedule the meeting.  
 
Clerk Hancsak commented that there was another minor issued related to the Election 
Process.  She stated that the Code of Ordinances (not the Charter) currently provides the 
qualifying period for candidates as not more than 50 days prior to the election or not less 
than 25 days and staff was suggesting that the period be changed to one less week on the 
back end (or not less than 32 days).  This would reduce the qualifying period by one 
week, however it still provides ample time (18 +/-days) and allows more time for the 
Supervisor of Elections to prepare for the election.  The election date was also briefly 
discussed.  Staff advised that an independent election is probably more beneficial to the 
Town in that it can be quicker and less confusing than having multiple municipalities and 
the difference in cost is the $400 set up fee that would otherwise be shared with the other 
towns.      
 
The consensus was to relay to the Town Commission that the P & Z was in favor of this 
change.            
      
VI. ADJOURNMENT 
 
The meeting was adjourned at approximately 10:00 AM 
       ____________________________ 
       Chairman Bonfiglio  
Attest: 
_____________________________ 
Town Clerk 


